**RECEIVED**

**Feb 08 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001089

---

Diane Connell, .....Respondent,

v.

Lexington County Health Services District, Inc.  
d/b/a Lexington Medical Center, .....Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Patrick J. Frawley  
Evan M. Gessner  
Davis Frawley, LLC  
140 East Main Street  
PO Box 489  
Lexington, South Carolina 29071  
803-359-2512

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the circuit court err in denying a directed verdict to LMC and finding that LMC created a hazardous condition or had constructive notice of a hazardous condition?
2. Did the circuit court err in qualifying an expert witness or admitting testimony of the expert that exceeded the scope of her licensure?
3. Did the circuit court err in denying LMC's Motion for Leave to Deposit in Court?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 22, 2018, Diane Connell filed a civil action against the Lexington County Health Services District d/b/a Lexington Medical Center (LMC) in the Lexington County Court of Common Pleas. (R. pp. 25-30.) Respondent alleged a premises liability action against LMC relating to a trip and fall that occurred in one of LMC's parking garages. (*Id.*) LMC filed an Answer on June 22, 2018 denying liability and asserting affirmative defenses alleging, among other defenses, that LMC had no notice of a dangerous or defective condition and that Respondent's claim was subject to certain provisions of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. (R. pp. 31-36.)

The case was brought to a bench trial before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod on March 2, 2020. (R. p. 1.) At the close of Plaintiff's case, LMC orally moved for directed verdict and presented a Memorandum of Law in support of its motion, which was denied by the trial court. (R. pp. 209; 235, lines 7-12.) At the close of LMC's case, the Motion for Directed Verdict was revived, and Respondent also moved for directed verdict on the issue of negligence, which was denied. (R. pp. 253, lines 14-21, 254, line 2; 256, lines 2-4.) The parties agreed to submit proposed orders in lieu of closing argument and Judge McLeod took the matter under advisement. (R. p. 256, lines 5-17.)

On July 10, 2020, Judge McLeod issued an Order and Entry of Judgment finding in favor of Respondent and awarding her damages in the amount of \$225,000.00. (R. pp. 19-20.) On, August 10, 2020, LMC timely filed a Notice of Appeal and served copies of the same on counsel for Respondent. (R. p. 646.) An Amended Notice of Appeal correcting a deficiency was later filed on August 18, 2020 and served on counsel for Respondent. (R. p. 649.)

On July 16, 2020, LMC filed a motion seeking leave of court to deposit funds with the court while the case was on appeal. (R. p. 639.) Respondent objected to LMC's motion and by Order dated July 31, 2020 Judge McLeod denied LMC's motion. (R. pp. 640-42; 643-45; 21-24.)

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

This is a premises liability action involving a change in elevation in a parking garage at the Lexington Medical Center. The parking garage was designed and built by independent contractors hired by LMC and construction was completed in 2008. (R. p. 237, lines 5-12.) On September 26, 2017, the Respondent, Diane Connell, and her husband were walking to their vehicle after a doctor's appointment. (R. p. 2.) As Respondent walked into the garage, she proceeded from a sidewalk onto a concrete walkway. (*Id.*) Respondent continued walking into a lane of traffic when she stepped half on/half off a curb. (*Id.*) The lane of traffic onto which Respondent was walking was also of concrete, of a similar color to the concrete walkway. (*Id.*) The curb was painted yellow on the face or front, but not on the top. (*Id.*) From her vantage point, Respondent would not have been able to see the yellow paint on the face of the curb. (R. p. 6.)

Respondent fell to the ground, causing the patella of her left knee to fracture, in addition to other injuries. (R. p. 3.) Respondent alleged that had the top of the curb been painted yellow, the change in elevation would have been more visible and she would not have fallen. (R. p. 27.) Respondent alleged that LMC was negligent in failing to paint the top of the curb when it was constructed, or in failing to discover that the top of the curb was unpainted and failing to correct it. (R. pp. 27-30.)

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. TRAIL COURT ERRED IN DENYING LMC'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND FOR FINDING IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENT**

#### **Standard of Review - Directed Verdict/Cases Tried by a Judge**

In reviewing the denial of a directed verdict motion, the appellate court employs the same standard as the trial court, viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Welch v. Eptstein*, 342 S.C. 279, 299-300, 536 S.E.2d 408, 418 (Ct. App. 2000). The reviewing court must reverse the trial court when there is no evidence to support the ruling below. *Steinke v. S.C. Dep't of Labor, Licensing & Regulation*, 336 S.C. 373, 386, 520 S.E.2d 142, 148 (1999).

On appeal from a case tried by a judge in an action at law, "the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings." *Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976); *Alexander's Land Co., L.L.C. v. M&M &K Corp.*, 390 S.C. 582, 892, 703 S.E.2d 207, 212 (2010). In other words, the judge's findings are treated in the same manner as a jury's findings in an action at law tried before a jury. *Townes Assocs.*, 266 S.C. at 86, 221 S.E.2d at 775; *see also Moseley v. All Things Possible, Inc.*, 395 S.C. 492, 495, 719 S.E.2d 656, 658 (2011).

#### **Argument**

The trial court erroneously determined that LMC created a hazardous condition and had notice of a hazardous condition and failed to remedy it. A premises owner cannot be held liable when there is no evidence of a negligent act or omission in the creation of a hazardous condition or the failure to correct a hazardous condition of which the owner had actual or constructive notice.

In any negligence action, the plaintiff must show the defendant did not use the amount of care one ordinarily would have under the circumstances. *See Snow v. Columbia*, 305 S.C. 544,

555, 409 S.E.2d 797, 803 (Ct. App. 1991) (citing *South Carolina State Ports Authority v. Booz-Allen & Hamilton*, 289 S.C. 373, 346 S.E.2d 324 (1986); *Carter v. Columbia Gas & Railway Co.*, 19 S.C. 20 (1883)). The doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* is not recognized in South Carolina, and as a result, negligence cannot be presumed from injury. See *Fletcher v. Med. Univ.*, 390 S.C. 458, 463, 702 S.E.2d 372, 374 (Ct. App. 2010). “[A plaintiff’s] burden of proof cannot be met by relying on the theory that the thing speaks for itself or that the very fact of injury indicates a failure to exercise reasonable care.” *Snow*, 305 S.C. at 555; 409 S.E.2d at 803.

The duty of care a landowner owes to a person upon its premises depends on the classification of the individual; she may be an invitee, licensee, adult trespasser, or child. See *Larimore v. Carolina Power & Light*, 340 S.C. 438, 444, 531 S.E.2d 535, 538 (Ct. App. 2000). An invitee is a person on the land of another that enters by express or implied invitation, connected with the owner’s business, and there is a mutuality of benefit or a benefit to the owner. See *Sims v. Giles*, 343 S.C. 708, 716-17, 541 S.E.2d 857, 862 (Ct. App. 2001). At trial, the parties agreed that Respondent was an invitee. (Order and Entry of Judgment, pp. 8-9.)

“[T]he operator of a parking lot is not an insurer of the safety of those who use the lot,” but instead must exercise “reasonable care . . . to keep the premises used by invitees in a reasonably safe condition.” *Sims*, 343 S.C. at 715, 541 S.E.2d at 861; *Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 331, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). Specifically, for an invitee to prove negligence in a premises liability action, “the plaintiff must show either that the defendant or defendant’s employees created the condition, or that the defendant had ‘notice’ of it” and failed to correct it. See *Cook v. Food Lion*, 328 S.C. 324, 327, 491 S.E.2d 690, 691 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing *Anderson v. Racetrac Petroleum, Inc.*, 296 S.C. 204, 205, 371 S.E.2d 530, 531 (1988)).

The trial court’s finding that LMC created the hazardous condition and had notice of the

hazardous condition and failed to remedy it was not supported by the evidence presented at trial, is in direct contravention of existing law, and must be reversed.

**A. The Trial Court's Finding that LMC Created the Hazard is Not Supported by the Evidence Presented at Trial**

In its Order finding for the Respondent, the trial court erroneously held that "LMC created this hazard by failing to paint the curbs when it built the garage in 2008." (R. p. 11.) However, the parking garage was built by an independent contractor, and as a governmental entity, LMC cannot be held liable for the acts and omissions of independent contractors. *See* S.C. Code §§ 15-78-30(c), 15-78-60(20); (R. p. 246, line 8–p. 247, line 17).

LMC is an incorporated health services district created in 1988 pursuant to section 44-7-2010 of the South Carolina Code and is entitled to the protections and limitations contained within the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. *See Lexington County Health Services District v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 384 S.C. 647, 649, 682 S.E.2d 508 (Ct. App. 2009); S.C. Code § 15-78-30(j); *Smith v. Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 394 S.C. 110, 114-16, 713 S.E.2d 656, 658-59 (Ct. App. 2010).

“A governmental entity is liable for its torts in the same manner and to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances, subject to the limitations upon liability and damages, and exemptions from liability and damages, contained [within the Tort Claims Act].” S.C. Code § 15-78-40. The Tort Claims Act specifically states that a “governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from . . . an act or omission of a person other than an employee” and independent contractors are specifically excluded from the Tort Claims Act’s definition of “employee”. S.C. Code §§ 15-78-30(c) (“employee . . . does not include an independent contractor”); 15-78-60(20). Additionally, “[t]he provisions of [the Tort Claims Act] establishing limitations on and exemptions to the liability of the State, its political subdivisions, and employees, while acting within the scope of official duty, must be liberally construed in favor of limiting the liability of the State.” S.C.

Code § 15-78-20(f).

This Court has previously held that a governmental hospital cannot be held liable for torts committed by an independent contractor. *See Smith*, 394 S.C. at 114-16, 713 S.E.2d at 658-59. In *Smith*, the doctrine of nondelegable duty was specifically rejected and found to be inapplicable to a governmental hospital, even when the hospital in question hired physicians as independent contractors to treat patients. *See id.* at 114, 713 S.E.2d at 659.

At trial, it was established that LMC hired a licensed architect and a licensed contractor to build the parking garage. (R. p. 246, line 18–p. 247, line 17.) There was no testimony or other evidence presented at trial that would indicate LMC had any input on the design of the parking garage or had any involvement in its construction. LMC argued at trial that it could not be held liable for the creation of the alleged hazard because it was created by an independent contractor, not an employee. (R. pp. 592-93.) Nevertheless, the trial court determined, without citing to any evidence or authority, that LMC itself created the alleged hazard. (R. p. 11.)

Consequently, the trial court’s finding that LMC created the alleged hazardous condition that contributed to Respondent’s fall was completely unsupported by the evidence presented at trial and is in direct contravention of existing law. As a result, the trial court’s Order and Entry of Judgment must be reversed.

**B. The Trial Court’s Finding that LMC Could be Held Liable Simply for the Creation of an Alleged Hazard is Erroneous**

Even if LMC had created the alleged hazardous condition, the trial court’s Order and Entry of Judgment must still be reversed because the creation of a hazardous condition, by itself, is insufficient to establish liability without evidence of negligence. *See Pringle v. SLR, Inc. of Summerton*, 382 S.C. 397, 404, 675 S.E.2d 783, 787 (Ct. App. 2009).

When it is shown that a defendant created a dangerous condition, a plaintiff must also

present evidence that the defendant created the condition through some negligent act or omission. *See id.* (“The showing that a defendant created a condition that led to a plaintiff’s injury is not, however, sufficient to survive a summary judgment motion unless there is evidence that in creating the condition, the defendant acted negligently.”). The party alleging negligence has the burden of proving actionable negligence and “[t]his burden cannot be met by relying upon the theory that the thing speaks for itself or that the very fact of injury indicates negligence.” *King v. J.C. Penny Company*, 238 S.C. 336, 120 S.E.2d 229, 230 (1961); *see also Hunter v. Dixie Home Stores*, 232 S.C. 139, 101 S.E.2d 262, 265 (1957) (noting “[i]t is elementary that in order for a plaintiff to recover damages there must be proof not only of injury, but also that it was caused by the actionable negligence of the defendant. It should be kept in mind that the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* does not apply in this State.”).

Therefore, even if LMC could be held liable for the acts or omissions of an independent contractor, Respondent failed to present any evidence of actionable negligence in the construction of the curb. Had the contractor violated a standard of care by violating an ordinance, building code, or industry standard, Respondent may have been able to show evidence of actionable negligence. However, at trial, Respondent admitted that there was no ordinance, building code, or industry standard that required the curb to be painted on the top. There was no evidence presented at trial that the alleged defect was created through any negligent act or omission. Instead, the Respondent, and the trial court, simply determined that the curb speaks for itself and assigned liability, in clear violation of this State’s rejection of the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*.

Consequently, even if LMC had constructed the curb where Respondent fell, the trial court’s finding that LMC could be liable simply for the creation a hazardous condition that contributed to Respondent’s fall is contrary to existing law and must be reversed.

**C. The Trial Court's Finding that LMC had Notice of a Hazardous Condition is Not Supported by the Evidence Presented at Trial**

In its Order finding for the Respondent, the trial court erroneously held that “it is appropriate to impute knowledge of the hazardous curb on LMC based on its opportunity to observe the hazard over the nine years since construction.” (R. p. 15.)

If a plaintiff cannot show that a premises owner created the alleged hazard, she may prove her case by showing that the premises owner had actual or constructive knowledge of the dangerous condition and failed to remedy it. *See Anderson*, 296 S.C. at 205, 371 S.E.2d at 531 (internal citations omitted). “Actual notice means all the facts are disclosed and there is nothing left to investigate” and “is synonymous with knowledge.” *Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Comm'n*, 332 S.C. 54, 63 n. 6, 504 S.E.2d 117, 122 n. 6 (1998).

Constructive notice is a legal inference which substitutes for actual notice. It is notice imputed to a person whose knowledge of facts is sufficient to put him on inquiry; if these facts were pursued with due diligence, they would lead to other undisclosed facts. Therefore this person is presumed to have actual knowledge of the disclosed facts.

*Id.* To show constructive notice, Plaintiff must present actual evidence indicating that Defendant was on "inquiry", meaning that Plaintiff must show evidence that something alerted or should have alerted Defendant that there might be an issue with that particular area, requiring further investigation.

In premises liability cases involving foreign substances, a plaintiff can show constructive notice by presenting evidence that the foreign substance that contributed to the accident “had been on the floor sufficiently long that the defendant should have discovered it.” *Wimberly v. Winn-Dixie Greenville*, 252 S.C. 117, 121, 165 S.E.2d 627, 629 (1969); *see also Cook*, 328 S.C. at 327, 491 S.E.2d at 691. However, that method for proving constructive notice is applicable only to cases involving foreign substances and it is error for a trial court to apply that standard to cases

not involving foreign substances. *See Cook v. Food Lion*, 328 S.C. 324, 327, 491 S.E.2d 690, 691 (Ct. App. 1997) (“She argues that the present case is factually distinguishable from a classic slip-and-fall case, and thus the trial judge’s reliance on ‘foreign substance’ cases is misplaced. We agree.”). As a result, a plaintiff in a premises liability action that does not involve a foreign substance cannot rely on the length of time the alleged defect existed to show constructive notice and must show actual evidence that Defendant was on actual notice or was put on inquiry and failed to correct or warn of the hazardous condition.

At trial, Respondent presented no evidence indicating that LMC was on actual or constructive notice of the alleged defect. Instead, Respondent relied on case law from foreign substance premises liability cases and argued that because the curb had existed in much the same condition for several years, constructive notice could be imputed because the alleged hazard was there long enough that LMC should have discovered it. (R. p. 15.) In response, LMC argued that foreign substance cases are not applicable to this case because there was no foreign substance involved here, and as a result, the time the hazard existed cannot be used to impute constructive notice. (R. p. 14.) The trial court sided with Respondent and found that the length of time the curb had existed could be used to show that LMC should have discovered the alleged defect. (R. p. 15.)

The trial court pointed to *Bruno v. Pendleton Realty* and *LeFont v. City of Myrtle Beach* and described them as “both parking lot cases where an invitee tripped on an uneven surface, not a foreign substance, and the respective courts found evidence of notice based on the amount of time the hazards existed.” (R. p. 14.) The trial court then concluded that “it is appropriate to impute knowledge of the hazardous curb on LMC based on its opportunity to observe the hazard over the nine years since construction.” (R. p. 15.) However, *Bruno* and *LeFont* are factually

distinguishable and the trial court's application of and reliance on those cases was erroneous.

The trial court first cited to *Bruno v. Pendleton Realty*, 240 S.C. 46, 124 S.E.2d 580 (1962), and stated that in that case “the walkway and the sidewalk were the same color, ‘giving the impression that it was one continuous walk.’” (R. p. 10). However, while *Bruno* did involve a change in elevation between two similarly colored concrete surfaces, the issue there was that the premises owner had allowed grass to grow in a crack between the two surfaces, and it was the grass that concealed the change in elevation. *See* 240 S.C. at 52, 124 S.E.2d at 583. There was no discussion by the Court as to whether the similar appearance of the two surfaces contributed to the accident. *Id.* at 52-53; 124 S.E.2d at 583. *Bruno* is, in fact, a foreign substance case and is inapplicable here.

The trial court then cited to *LeFont v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 430 S.C. 534, 846 S.E.2d 355 (S.C. Ct. App. 2020), and described it as a case where an invitee tripped on a pothole in defendant's parking lot and the Court of Appeals reversed a directed verdict because there was evidence of constructive notice in the form of “testimony that the pothole contained dirt and debris, which would allow a fact finder to infer that the hole had existed long enough for the defendant's employees to discover it.” (R. pp. 14-15.) However, this Court's holding in *LeFont* is more detailed than the trial court describes, and the specific holding there can be distinguished.

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