THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Feb 08 2021

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Walton J. McLeod, Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2018-CP-32-1750
Appellate Case No.: 2020-001089

Diane Connell Respondent,

v.

Lexington County Health Services District, Inc.
d/b/a Lexington Medical Center Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Robert F. Goings (SC Bar # 74855)
Jessica L. Gooding (SC Bar # 101210)
Goings Law Firm, LLC
1510 Calhoun Street
Post Office Box 436 (29202)
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Phone: (803) 350-9230
Fax: (877) 789-6340
Email: rgoings@goingslawfirm.com
jgooding@goingslawfirm.com

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

ARGUMENT

In the case below, Mrs. Connell asserted a claim of negligence, and more specifically, premises liability, against LMC. “To prove a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must show: (1) the defendant owes a duty of care to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant breached that duty by a

negligent act or omission; (3) the defendant's breach was the actual and proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury; and (4) the plaintiff suffered an injury or damages." *Roddey v. Wal-Mart Stores E., LP*, 415 S.C. 580, 589, 784 S.E.2d 670, 675 (2016). In a premises liability case, the duty of care a landowner owes to a person upon its premises depends upon the classification of the individual; she may be an invitee, licensee, adult trespasser, or child. *Larimore v. Carolina Power & Light*, 340 S.C. 438, 444, 531 S.E.2d 535, 538 (Ct. App. 2000). "[A] person is an invitee on the land of another if he enters by express or implied invitation, his entry is connected with the owner's business or with an activity the owner conducts or permits to be conducted on his land, and there is a mutuality of benefit or a benefit to the owner." *Sims v. Giles*, 343 S.C. 708, 716–17, 541 S.E.2d 857, 862 (Ct. App. 2001). The parties agreed at trial that Mrs. Connell was an invitee on LMC's property at the time she fell. Further, LMC did not dispute that Mrs. Connell injured her knee when she fell in the LMC parking garage. Thus, the circuit court, sitting as the fact finder as well as the authority on the law, was primarily required to determine whether LMC breached its duty to Mrs. Connell and the amount of the damages that were proximately caused by the breach. Based on the evidence presented at trial, the circuit court found that LMC breached its duty and awarded Mrs. Connell \$225,000 in damages.

For the reasons set forth herein as well as in the circuit court's Order dated July 10, 2020, the circuit court did not err, and this case should be affirmed.

I. The Trial Court Properly Denied LMC's Motion for Directed Verdict and Found in Favor of Mrs. Connell.

The circuit court correctly found, when viewing all the facts and circumstances in the light most favorable to Mrs. Connell, there is evidence in this case that LMC breached its duty to Mrs. Connell, resulting in her suffering significant damages. Thus, the circuit court properly denied LMC's Motion for Directed Verdict, and its decision must be upheld.

A. Standard of Review

“When reviewing the denial of a motion for directed verdict or JNOV, this Court applies the same standard as the trial court.” *Pridgen v. Ward*, 391 S.C. 238, 243, 705 S.E.2d 58, 61 (Ct. App. 2010). “The Court is required to view the evidence and inferences that reasonably can be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Id.* “An appellate court will only reverse the [circuit] court's ruling when there is **no evidence to support the ruling** or when the ruling is controlled by an error of law.” *Id.* (emphasis added); *see also e.g. Creech v. S.C. Wildlife & Marine Res. Dep't*, 328 S.C. 24, 29, 491 S.E.2d 571, 573 (1997) (“The trial court can only be reversed by this Court when there is not evidence to support the ruling below.”).

When a “case is tried by a judge without a jury, his findings of fact have the force and effect of a jury verdict upon the issues and are conclusive upon appeal when supported by competent evidence.” *Chapman v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 263 S.C. 565, 567, 211 S.E.2d 876, 877 (1975). If there is “any evidence which reasonably supports the factual findings of the judge,” the decision must be affirmed. *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 776 (1976).⁶

B. LMC’s Argument that it Cannot Be Liable Based on Creating the Hazard is Not Preserved for Appeal.

LMC did not argue before the circuit court that (1) it cannot be held liable for the acts of an independent contractor in building the garage but failing to paint all the curbs or (2) the creation of hazardous condition, by itself, is insufficient to establish liability without evidence of negligence. Therefore, neither arguments A nor B under LMC’s “I. TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING LMC’S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND FOR FINDING IN FAVOR OF

⁶ This case was abrogated on other grounds in *Matter of Estate of Kay*, 423 S.C. 476, 816 S.E.2d 542 (2018).

RESPONDENT” are preserved for appellate review. “It is well settled that an issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the [circuit] court to be preserved for appellate review.” *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. M&T Enters. of Mount Pleasant, LLC*, 379 S.C. 645, 658, 667 S.E.2d 7, 14 (Ct. App. 2008). Under our preservation rules, a “losing party must first try to convince the lower court it has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred.” *I’On, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). “This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues **and arguments** to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments.” *Id.* (emphasis added). If an appellant “did not raise [a] specific argument to the trial court,” the argument cannot be considered by the appellate court. *Langehans v. Smith*, 347 S.C. 348, 353, 554 S.E.2d 681, 684 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing *Noisette v. Ismail*, 304 S.C. 56, 403 S.E.2d 122 (1991)) (issue was not preserved for appellate review where the trial court did not explicitly rule on the appellant's argument and the appellant did not raise the issue in a Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, motion to alter or amend the judgment)).

LMC did not argue, in its Memorandum in Support of Defendant’s Motion for Directed Verdict or otherwise, that LMC could not be held liable for creating this hazard under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act because the garage was constructed by an independent contractor. Similarly, LMC never argued that the evidence that LMC created the hazardous condition was insufficient to establish its negligence.⁷ Because these arguments were not raised, the circuit court

⁷ Even if this argument were preserved, the argument fails because a plaintiff can prove negligence by showing that a property owner created a hazardous condition. *See Cook v. Food Lion, Inc.*, 328 S.C. 324, 327, 491 S.E.2d 690, 691 (Ct. App. 1997). In the case LMC cites, *Pringle v. SLR Inc. of Summerton*, 382 S.C. 397, 675 S.E.2d 783 (Ct. App. 2009), it was undisputed that the property owner created a condition – placing residential chairs in a commercial setting – that was not hazardous at the time it was created. The plaintiff presented evidence that the condition became

did not have an opportunity to rule upon these issues, and they were not preserved for appeal. Accordingly, this Court should not consider LMC's arguments regarding the creation of a hazardous condition. Further, because LMC did not preserve these arguments for appeal, the circuit court's finding that LMC created the hazardous condition must stand, and this case must be affirmed on that basis.

C. There is Evidence Supporting the Circuit Court's Findings.

Even if this Court were to consider LMC's arguments regarding creation of the hazardous condition and find in its favor, the circuit court's decision must be upheld because there is evidence that LMC had notice of the hazard that caused Mrs. Connell to fall. In a premises liability case, "the invitee is offered the utmost duty of care by the landowner." *Sims v. Giles*, 343 S.C. at 715, 541 S.E.2d at 861. "[A]lthough the operator of a parking lot is not an insurer of the safety of those who use the lot, reasonable care must be used by the operator to keep the premises used by invitees in a reasonably safe condition." *Hancock v. Mid-S. Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 331, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). A property owner "owes the customers the duty of exercising ordinary care to keep the passageways, sidewalks and such other parts of the premises as are ordinarily used by the customers in transacting business in a reasonably safe condition." *Bruno v. Pendleton Realty Co.*, 240 S.C. 46, 51, 124 S.E.2d 580, 582 (1962). "A landowner owes an invitee a duty of due care to discover risks and to warn of or eliminate foreseeable unreasonable risks." *Landry v. Hilton Head Plantation Prop. Owners Ass'n, Inc.*, 317 S.C. 200, 203, 452 S.E.2d 619, 621 (Ct. App. 1994). If

hazardous after excessive commercial use, but there was no evidence the defendant knew or should have known the chair would collapse and injure the plaintiff. *Id.* at 405, 675 S.E.2d at 787. Because there was no evidence that the condition the defendant created was indeed hazardous, there was not sufficient evidence of negligence to survive summary judgment. *Id.* at 405, 675 S.E.2d at 788. The case is not applicable here because the unpainted curb has been hazardous since its creation.

a risk of injury is “reasonably foreseeable,” the landowner must take action to prevent the injury. *Nelson v. Piggly Wiggly Central, Inc.*, 390 S.C. 382, 392, 701 S.E.2d 776, 781 (2010).

Again, LMC admitted at trial that it owed Mrs. Connell the above-described duty and that she suffered damages when she fractured her patella in the LMC parking garage. Therefore, to survive the Motion for Directed Verdict, Mrs. Connell had to set forth some evidence showing that it was reasonably foreseeable someone might fall as a result of the unpainted curb, and LMC either (1) created the hazard or (2) had actual or constructive knowledge of the hazard and failed to remedy it. *Garvin v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 343 S.C. 625, 628, 541 S.E.2d 831, 832 (2001). Constructive notice may be proven by showing that the dangerous condition existed long enough that the defendant should have discovered it. *Wimberly v. Winn Dixie Greenville Inc.*, 252 S.C. 117, 121, 165 S.E.2d 627, 629 (1969); *see also LeFont v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 430 S.C. 534, 545, 846 S.E.2d 355, 360 (Ct. App. 2020) (“[T]here was sufficient evidence of constructive notice to allow the jury to resolve the question of . . . liability” because “the jury could infer the [hazard] had existed long enough for the [defendant’s] employees to discover it.”).

In *Bruno v. Pendleton Realty Co.*, 240 S.C. 46, 124 S.E.2d 580 (1962), our supreme court upheld a verdict in favor of a store patron who fell “as a result of stepping on the edge of a curbing, which was concealed by a heavy growth of grass.” *Id.* at 48, 124 S.E.2d at 581. In that case, there was a sidewalk and a walkway that intersected in the parking lot, and grass had grown in the crack at the intersection, which “gave the appearance that the walkway and sidewalk were on the same level.” *Id.* at 52, 124 S.E.2d at 583. Testimony established that the patron had not used that particular walkway before, the patron had the impression that the sidewalk and the walkway were the same height, and the walkway and the sidewalk were the same color, “giving the impression that it was one continuous walk.” *Id.* at 52-53, 124 S.E.2d at 583. Although evidence showed the

property owner inspected the premises two or three times per week, the condition had existed for a month or more at the time the patron fell. *Id.* The court held, “[t]he mere fact that there is a difference between the levels in the different parts of the premises does not, in itself, indicate negligence unless, owing to the character, location and surrounding condition of the change of level, a reasonably careful person would not be likely to expect or see it.” *Id.* at 51, 124 S.E.2d at 582. However, the court pointed out that where a property owner knew or should have known of a dangerous condition that is unknown to an invitee, “the owner is required to give proper warning in order to relieve himself from liability for injuries incurred by reason thereof.” *Id.* at 52, 124 S.E.2d at 583. The *Bruno* court held that the jury could reasonably find the change in elevation was hazardous based on both the sidewalk and the walkway being “a grayish white concrete, . . . giving the impression that it was one continuous walk” and noted that the grass hiding the change in elevation had been there for a month or so. *Id.* at 53, 124 S.E.2d at 583. Because a fact finder could reasonably conclude that the property owner, “in the exercise of ordinary care to make its premises reasonably safe, . . . should have given warning of the situation, or taken other precautions to guard against injury to the [patron],” it was proper for the trial judge to deny the motion for directed verdict. *Id.* at 54, 124 S.E.2d at 584.

This case is very similar to the *Bruno* case. The court need look no further than the testimony from LMC’s representatives to find evidence that LMC created and/or had notice of the hazardous unpainted curb that caused Mrs. Connell’s fall. Dale Thompson, LMC’s Vice President of Facilities and Property, admitted on cross examination at trial that the unpainted curb that caused Mrs. Connell to fall was a trip hazard. (R. p. 252, line 25 – p. 253, line 1) (Q. “You agree that this

can create a trip hazard?” A. “Yes. Based on that picture, I agree with you.”⁸). LMC built the garage in 2008.⁹ (R. p. 246, ll. 15-17). It conducts monthly inspections of the premises to look for hazards. (R. p. 241, ll. 9-22). Mr. Thompson testified that LMC uses yellow paint to mark the curbs in its garage because it makes them visible and indicates to people that they should use caution. (R. p. 244, ll. 6-16). He also admitted that concrete can have a “camouflaging effect” on elevation changes and that a person cannot see such changes in elevation when they are not painted:

Q. The camouflaging effect can occur with concrete; isn't that true?

A. Yes. I would say that is correct.

Q. All right. And, in fact, from the naked eye, you can have concrete that is all one color of that grayish tone, and there may be changes in the elevation, but you can't see it because it's not painted, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. All right. And concrete, in and of itself, can cause that camouflaging effect to occur to the eye, right?

A. Yes. I would say so.

Q. And that's why curbing is painted all throughout the parking garage, right?

A. In the other locations, yes. Yes. I would say yes.

(R. p. 244, line 20 – p. 245, line 11). Mr. Thompson went on to testify that elevation changes or curbing can be hazardous, that they are most hazardous when people cannot see or appreciate that the curbing is there, and that the reasonable and prudent thing to do is to paint the side and top of all the curbs to make them visible to pedestrians. (R. p. 250, line 22-p. 251, line 1). Cory Andrews, LMC's Director of Risk Management, also testified that yellow paint is used to make curbs visible to invitees in the garage and that Mrs. Connell would not have been able to see

⁸ LMC did not contest the authenticity of the photographs. It consented to them being included as an exhibit at trial. (R. p. 55, line 8-p. 56, line 11).

⁹ LMC argues that it did not create the hazard because an independent contractor built the garage, but, as discussed above, this argument is not preserved for appeal.

any markings denoting a change in elevation from the direction she was walking. (R. p. 298, line 8 – p. 299, line 22).

In addition, Mrs. Connell's testimony showed that, like the patron who fell in *Bruno*, she was unfamiliar with the pedestrian walkway leading into the parking garage at LMC. Testimony from Mrs. Connell, Mr. Connell, and Mr. Brewer established that both the walkway and the driveway were concrete, and it gave the appearance that they were one level. It is foreseeable that a reasonably prudent person walking into the garage, as Mrs. Connell was, would not expect or observe the curb or elevation change of the walking surface. LMC knew or should have known that pedestrians would use that walkway to enter the garage and would be unable to discern the change in elevation because it was unpainted, unmarked, and both surfaces were the same grayish concrete color. The fact that LMC painted both the top and side of the curbing/elevation changes on walking surfaces throughout the parking garage is further evidence that LMC created the hazardous condition, or at the very least, knew or should have known this condition existed. It is undisputed that LMC did nothing to alert pedestrians to this change in elevation, in spite of its knowledge that the concrete pedestrian walkway suddenly dropped down to the concrete driveway, with no color change or other distinguishing characteristics. Because all this evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to Mrs. Connell, supports a finding that LMC breached its duty to her, it was proper for the circuit court to deny LMC's Motion for Directed Verdict.

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